**RECEIVED**

---

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

**Jan 09 2023**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**Certified Question from  
The United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit**

Appellate Case No. 2022-001378

---

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff/Appellee,

vs.

PATRICK FITZGERALD CLEMONS,

Appellant/Defendant.

---

**OPENING BRIEF**

---

Elizabeth Franklin-Best  
Elizabeth Franklin-Best, P.C.  
Bar No. 72555  
3710 Landmark Drive, Suite 113  
Columbia, South Carolina 29204  
(803) 445-1333  
[elizabeth@franklinbestlaw.com](mailto:elizabeth@franklinbestlaw.com)  
Counsel for the Appellant/Defendant

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES FOR REVIEW**

On October 3, 2022, the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit certified two questions of law to this Court. *See* Order, *United States v. Clemons*, No. 22-4152 (4th Cir. Oct. 3, 2022), ECF No. 33-2. On October 26, 2022, this Court, pursuant to Rule 244, SCACR, accepted certification of the following questions:

1. What mental state is required to commit South Carolina Assault and Battery, Second Degree, in violation of S.C. Code [Ann.] § 16-3-600?
2. What mental state is required to commit South Carolina Criminal Domestic Violence of a High and Aggravated Nature, in violation of S.C. Code [Ann.] § 16-25-65?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

In August 2021, a federal grand jury charged Patrick Fitzgerald Clemons (Clemons) in a six-count superseding indictment. Later that month, Clemons pleaded guilty without a written plea agreement to being a felon in possession of a firearm, a violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 922(g)(1), 924(a)(2), and 924(e).

A presentencing report determined that Clemons qualified for an enhanced statutory sentence under the Armed Career Criminal Act (ACCA), 18 U.S.C. § 924(e) (2020), based on three prior South Carolina convictions: two for violations of S. C. Code Ann. § 16-25-65 (Supp. 2006), Criminal Domestic Violence of a High and Aggravated Nature (CDVHAN), and one for a violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-

600(D)(1) (2015), Assault and Battery, Second Degree (AB2d). Clemons objected, arguing none of these convictions qualified as predicate offenses based on the United States Supreme Court’s recent decision in *Borden v. United States*, 141 S. Ct. 1817, 1825 (2021). In *Borden*, the Supreme Court held that the ACCA’s force clause does not “include[] offenses criminalizing reckless conduct.” 141 S. Ct. at 1825 (plurality opinion); *id.* at 1834 (Thomas, J., concurring in the judgment). The Court found that ACCA’s use of the phrase “against another” “demands that the perpetrator direct his action at, or target, another individual,” and “[r]eckless conduct is not aimed in that prescribed manner.” *Id.* at 1825 (plurality opinion). Crimes covered by ACCA’s force clause “are best understood to involve not only a substantial degree of force, but also a *purposeful or knowing* mental state—a deliberate choice of wreaking harm on another, rather than mere indifference to risk.” *Borden*, 141 S. Ct. at 1830 (plurality opinion) (emphasis added); *id.* at 1834 (Thomas, J., concurring in judgment). The Court believed that offenses covered by a recklessness *mens rea* would end up improperly “impos[ing] large sentencing enhancements on individuals (for example, reckless drivers) far afield from the ‘armed career criminals’ ACCA addresses.” *Id.* at 1825 (plurality opinion).

At sentencing, the district court overruled Clemons’ objection. The district court ultimately sentenced Clemons to 145 months’ imprisonment.

Clemons filed a notice of appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit. In his opening brief before the Fourth Circuit, Clemons argued that none of these South Carolina convictions qualify as ACCA predicate offenses as they can be committed via a reckless *mens rea*.

The Fourth Circuit's certification order followed.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

This Court reviews questions of statutory interpretation de novo. *Books-A-Million, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, \_\_\_ S.C. \_\_\_, 880 S.E.2d 476, 477 (2022). “The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the legislative intent whenever possible.” *State v. Landis*, 362 S.C. 97, 102, 606 S.E.2d 503, 505 (Ct. App. 2004). “All rules of statutory construction are subservient to the one that legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used, and that language must be construed in the light of the intended purpose of the statute.” *Id.* Appellate courts do not construe particular clauses of a statute in isolation but read them “in conjunction with the purpose of the whole statute and the policy of the law.” *White v. State*, 375 S.C. 1, 7, 649 S.E.2d 172, 175 (Ct. App. 2007).

“The legislature's intent should be ascertained primarily from the plain language of the statute.” *Landis*, 362 S.C. at 102, 606 S.E.2d at 505. “Words must

be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to subtle or forced construction which limits or expands the statute's operation. When faced with an undefined statutory term, the court must interpret the term in accord with its usual and customary meaning." *Id.* (citation omitted).

When a statutory term is not defined, "[w]ords must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to subtle or forced construction which limits or expands the statute's operation." *Sloan v. Hardee*, 371 S.C. 495, 499, 640 S.E.2d 457, 459 (2000). "When faced with an undefined statutory term, the court must interpret the term in accord with its usual and customary meaning." *State v. Robinson*, 437 S.C. 226, 231, 878 S.E.2d 8, 11 (Ct. App. 2022), *petition for cert. filed* (Oct. 20, 2022).

"[W]hen a statute is penal in nature, it must be construed strictly against the State and in favor of the defendant." *State v. Blackmon*, 304 S.C. 270, 273, 403 S.E.2d 660, 662 (1991) (citing *State v. Cutler*, 274 S.C. 376, 264 S.E.2d 420 (1980)); *see also State v. Dingle*, 376 S.C. 643, 649–50, 659 S.E.2d 101, 105 (2008); *State v. Gordon*, 356 S.C. 143, 153, 588 S.E.2d 105, 110 (2003); *Kerr v. State*, 345 S.C. 183, 189, 547 S.E.2d 494, 497 (2001); *Hair v. State*, 305 S.C. 77, 79, 406 S.E.2d 332, 334 (1991).

The standard of review when answering a certified question depends on the context of the case. Typically, when a novel issue of law is raised, this Court is "free to decide the question based on its assessment of which answer and reasoning would

best comport with the law and public policies of the state as well as the Court's sense of law, justice, and right." *Thomerson v. DeVito*, 430 S.C. 246, 249, 844 S.E.2d 378, 380 (2020).

## ARGUMENT

### 1. Introduction

The matter before this Court is a determination of the *mens rea* associated with violations of § 16-3-600(D)(1) (AB2d) and § 16-25-65 (CDVHAN). It is therefore useful to review several general principles regarding the concept of *mens rea* related to South Carolina criminal offenses.

A voluntary act, without more, is usually not enough to incur criminal liability, unless the offense is one of strict liability. *State v. Jeffries*, 316 S.C. 13, 20, 446 S.E.2d 427, 431 (1994) (“The modern definition of ‘positive act’ does not encompass the state of mind required for criminal liability.”). Simply put, “[a] defendant may not be convicted of a criminal offense unless the State proves beyond a reasonable doubt that he acted with the criminal intent, or mental state, required for a particular offense.” *State v. Fennell*, 340 S.C. 266, 271, 531 S.E.2d 512, 515 (2000). This Court determines the *mens rea* for a criminal offense by “look[ing] to common law and the development of the statute [by the General Assembly] to determine whether the legislature intended the crime to require a *mens rea*” and, if so, what degree of *mens rea* is required. *Jeffries*, 316 S.C. at 18, 446 S.E.2d at 430.

“At common law, crimes generally were classified as requiring either ‘general intent’ or ‘specific intent.’” *United States v. Bailey*, 444 U.S. 394, 403 (1980). South

Carolina continues to follow the common law’s distinction between specific intent and general intent crimes, even for codified offenses. *See, e.g., State v. King*, 422 S.C. 47, 55, 810 S.E.2d 18, 22 (2017) (“We agree with the Court of Appeals that the legislature intended to require the State to prove specific intent to commit murder as an element of attempted murder, and therefore the trial court erred by charging the jury that attempted murder is a general intent crime.”) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

Specific intent, particularly as to attempt crimes, “means that the defendant consciously intended the completion of acts comprising the choate offense. In other words, the completion of such acts is the defendant’s purpose.” *State v. Sutton*, 340 S.C. 393, 397, 532 S.E.2d 283, 285 (2000). By contrast, “general intent” is defined as “the state of mind required for the commission of certain common law crimes not requiring specific intent” and it “usually takes the form of recklessness . . . or negligence.” *State v. Kinard*, 373 S.C. 500, 503-04, 646 S.E.2d 168, 169 (Ct. App. 2007) (citations omitted) (quoting Black’s Law Dictionary 813, 969 (7th ed. 1999)), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Burdette*, 427 S.C. 490, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019).

Criminal negligence is defined as “such negligence or indifference to duty or to consequences as is regarded by the law as equivalent to a criminal intent.” *State v. Ferguson*, 302 S.C. 269, 272, 395 S.E.2d 182, 183 (1990) (quoting *State v. American*

*Agric. Chem. Co.*, 118 S.C. 333, 337, 110 S.E. 800, 802 (1922)). Criminal recklessness is defined as “an indifference to the consequences of one’s acts. It denotes a conscious failure to exercise due care or ordinary care or a conscious indifference to the rights and safety of others or a reckless disregard thereof.” *State v. Rowell*, 326 S.C. 313, 315, 487 S.E.2d 185, 186 (1997).

“Where a statute does not specify that criminal liability is to be imposed based upon graduated levels of intent, [this Court is] extremely reluctant to draw such distinctions.” *State v. Morris*, 376 S.C. 189, 201, 656 S.E.2d 359, 366 (2008). *See also State v. Sterling*, 396 S.C. 599, 616, 723 S.E.2d 176, 185 (2012) (in the face of statutory silence, this Court does not “weaken the legislators’ decision to criminalize [certain actions] by imposing a high standard of intent.”). Instead, the criminal act “must be accompanied by a criminal intent, or by such negligence or indifference to duty or to consequences as is regarded by the law as equivalent to a criminal intent.” *Ferguson*, 302 S.C. at 272, 395 S.E.2d at 183.

At common law, assault was a specific attempt crime because it was “defined as an ‘attempted battery’ or an unlawful attempt or offer to commit a violent injury upon another person, coupled with the present ability to complete the attempt or offer by a battery.” *Sutton*, 340 S.C. at 397, 532 S.E.2d at 285 (citing *State v. Mims*, 286 S.C. 553, 335 S.E.2d 237 (1985)). The completed offense of battery, by contrast,

was a general intent crime capable of commission by reckless or criminally negligent conduct. *See, e.g., State v. Beck*, 1 Hill (S.C.) 363, 363 (Ct. App. 1833) (battery can be accomplished by negligent act “as, where a person throwing stones into the highway, strikes another passing; or, as in the instance of a person throwing a lighted squib into a crowd.”); *see also* 2 Wharton’s Criminal Law § 23:2 (16th ed.) (2022) (“[A] criminal battery is committed, in accordance with the prevailing view, if ... the contact was the result of recklessness or criminal negligence.”); 6 Am. Jur. 2d Assault and Battery § 16 (2022) (“A criminal assault or battery may be committed by a wanton or reckless act.”); 6A C.J.S. Assault § 86 (“Wanton and reckless conduct may substitute for the intentional conduct element necessary for a battery.”).

Prior to the codification of assault and battery offenses, South Carolina “recognize[d] three levels of assault: the offense of simple assault and battery, the offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN), and the offense of [assault and battery with intent to kill].” *Fennell*, 340 S.C. at 274, 531 S.E.2d at 516 (footnote omitted). These completed offenses were general intent offenses. *See State v. Foust*, 325 S.C. 12, 15, 479 S.E.2d 50, 51 (1992) (concluding that assault and battery with intent to kill required the general intent to kill, not the specific intent to kill); *State v. Sussewell*, 149 S.C. 128, 146 S.E. 697, 703 (1929)

(upholding conviction for common law ABHAN because defendant’s actions showed “gross negligence and recklessness”).

Like other jurisdictions, it is presumed the General Assembly is “aware of the common law [when it legislates], and where a statute uses a term that has a well-recognized meaning in the law, the presumption is that the General Assembly intended to use the term in that sense.” *State v. Bridgers*, 329 S.C. 11, 14, 495 S.E.2d 196, 198 (1997); *see also State v. Bailey*, 416 S.C. 344, 349, 785 S.E.2d 622, 625 (Ct. App. 2016) (same). Indeed, the General Assembly incorporated the principles of specific intent and general intent *mens rea* into both the assault and battery and domestic violence statutes. The assault and battery statute, for example, states that an individual commits AB2d if the person “unlawfully injures another person” — *i.e.*, commits a battery—“or offers or attempts to injure another person with the present ability to do so” — *i.e.*, commits an assault. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(D)(1) (2015). Domestic violence occurs when an individual “cause[s] physical harm or injury to a person’s own household member” — *i.e.*, commits a battery— or “offer[s] or attempt[s] to cause physical harm or injury to a person’s own household member with apparent present ability under circumstances reasonably creating fear of imminent peril” — *i.e.*, commits an assault. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-20(A) (Supp. 2022).

With these animating principles in mind, each certified question is addressed separately below.

**2. What mental state is required to commit South Carolina Assault and Battery, Second Degree, in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600?**

An analysis of § 16-3-600, considered in conjunction with the existing case law of this state, establishes the battery portion of AB2d can be violated with a *mens rea* of either criminal negligence or recklessness. This Court should so find.

Neither the statute itself nor its legislative history discloses a purpose of the 2010 codification of assault and battery offenses other than to abolish certain common law and statutory offenses and create new statutory offenses. *See State v. Middleton*, 407 S.C. 312, 315, 755 S.E.2d 432, 434 (2014) (the General Assembly “abolished all common law assault and battery offenses and all prior statutory assault and battery offenses.”). The statutory scheme is titled “§ 16-3-600. Assault and battery; definitions; degrees of offense.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600 (2015). *See Univ. of S.C. v. Elliott*, 248 S.C. 218, 221, 149 S.E.2d 433, 434 (1966) (“[I]t is proper to consider the title or caption of an act in aid of construction to show the intent of the legislature.”). *See also* Omnibus Crime Reduction and Sentencing Reform Act of 2010, Act No. 273, 2010 S.C. Acts 1937, Part I, § 7(B) (“The common law offenses of assault and battery with intent to kill, assault with intent to kill, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, simple assault and battery, assault of a high and

aggravated nature, aggravated assault, and simple assault are abolished for offenses occurring on or after the effective date of this act.”). The subject matter and general purpose of this statute, therefore, is simply to “abolish” certain offenses and criminalize certain conduct involving specific intent offenses (assault) and general intent crimes (battery) not covered by other sections of Title 16 of the South Carolina Code.

As is relevant here, § 16-3-600(D) creates the AB2d offense with the following circumstances:

[a] person commits the offense of assault and battery in the second degree if the person unlawfully injures another person, or offers or attempts to injure another person with the present ability to do so, and:

(a) moderate bodily injury to another person results or moderate bodily injury to another person could have resulted; or

(b) the act involves the nonconsensual touching of the private parts of a person, either under or above clothing.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(D)(1) (2015).<sup>1</sup> This offense is a lesser-included offense of several greater offenses. *See, e.g.*, S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(D)(3) (2015) (“Assault and battery in the second degree is a lesser-included offense of assault and battery in the first degree, as defined in (C)(1), assault and battery of a high and

---

<sup>1</sup> “Moderate bodily injury” and “private parts” are defined statutory terms. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(A)(2), (A)(3) (2015).

aggravated nature, as defined in subsection (B)(1), and attempted murder, as defined in Section 16-3-29.”).

It is evident that § 16-3-600(D)(1) creates one offense with two methods of committing that offense: either by an assault (a person “offers or attempts to injure”) or via a battery (a person “unlawfully injures another person”). While the first method’s *mens rea* is clear—attempt is a specific intent crime—the General Assembly did not provide a *mens rea* for the second method, the battery.

To commit the battery offense, all that is required is for a defendant to act “unlawfully.” To the extent this term can be read to denote a *mens rea*, the term is not defined. As noted above, “[w]hen faced with an undefined statutory term, the court must interpret the term in accord with its usual and customary meaning.” *Robinson*, 437 S.C.at 231, 878 S.E.2d at 11. Indeed, “[t]he ordinary-meaning rule is the most fundamental semantic rule of [statutory] interpretation.” A. Scalia & B. Garner, *Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts* 69 (2012).

“Unlawful” simply means “[n]ot authorized by law; illegal” or “criminally punishable.” Black’s Law Dictionary 1536 (7th ed. 1999). *See also Bryant v. Commonwealth*, 295 Va. 302, 310, 811 S.E.2d 250, 253 (Va. 2018) (“‘Unlawfully,’ [] describes conduct that merely demonstrates criminal negligence.”) (cleaned up). If “unlawfully” is the term meant by the General Assembly to denote the *mens rea*

associated with the battery offense contained in AB2d, then it is evident AB2d can be violated by negligent conduct.

Assuming “unlawfully” is not the General Assembly’s expression of the *mens rea* applicable to AB2d’s battery offense, the statute is therefore silent as to the *mens rea* necessary for conviction. Under this Court’s precedent,

[i]n offenses at common law, and under statutes which do not disclose a contrary legislative purpose, to constitute a crime, the act must be accompanied by a criminal intent, or by such negligence or indifference to duty or to consequences as is regarded by the law as equivalent to a criminal intent.

*Ferguson*, 302 S.C. at 272, 395 S.E.2d at 183 (citation omitted). This Court does not “weaken the legislators’ decision to criminalize [certain actions] by imposing a high standard of intent.” *Sterling*, 396 S.C. at 616, 723 S.E.2d at 185. Instead, courts “read into a statute *only* that *mens rea* which is necessary to separate wrongful conduct from ‘otherwise innocent conduct.’” *Carter v. United States*, 530 U.S. 255, 269 (2000) (citation omitted) (emphasis added). If the General Assembly intended the battery offense contained in AB2d to require a *mens rea* greater than negligence or recklessness, it “could have [indicated] so with clear, express language.” *Gov’t Emp. Ins. Co. v. Poole*, 424 S.C. 1, \*6, 817 S.E.2d 283, 286 (2018). It did not do so.

In instances where a criminal statute is silent as to its *mens rea*, this Court is loathe to read into the statute a *mens rea* not evidenced from the statute’s purpose

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