---

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

**Certified Questions from  
The United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit**

---

Appellate Case No. 2022-001378

**RECEIVED**

**Feb 22 2023**

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Plaintiff/Appellee,

vs.

PATRICK FITZGERALD CLEMONS,

Appellant/Defendant.

---

**RESPONSE BRIEF**

---

ADAIR F. BOROUGHS  
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

KATHLEEN M. STOUGHTON (#12161)  
ASSISTANT U.S. ATTORNEY  
1441 MAIN STREET, SUITE 500  
COLUMBIA, SOUTH CAROLINA 29201  
TEL.: (803) 929-3114  
FAX: (803) 929-3135  
Kathleen.Stoughton@usdoj.gov  
*ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF/APPELLEE*

**

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

## ARGUMENT

The level of criminal intent required to show commission of an offense that does not state a *mens rea* is a “question[] of legislative intent.” *State v. Ferguson*, 302 S.C. 269, 272, 395 S.E.2d 182, 183 (1990). The statutory text and legislative history of the Assault and Battery and Criminal Domestic Violence statutes establish that AB2d and CDVHAN can be committed only by intentional conduct.

### **I. Principles of *Mens Rea* in South Carolina Law**

“‘Criminal liability is normally based upon the concurrence of two factors, an evil meaning mind and an evil doing hand.’” *State v. Jefferies*, 316 S.C. 13, 17, 446 S.E.2d 427, 430 (1994) (quoting *United States v. Bailey*, 444 U.S. 394, 402 (1980)) (quotation marks and alteration omitted). So “ordinarily, in order to establish criminal liability, a criminal intent of some form is required.” *Ferguson*, 302 S.C.

at 271, 395 S.E.2d at 183. As this Court explained in *Jefferies*, “[a]t common law, crimes generally were classified as requiring either general intent or specific intent.” 316 S.C. at 18, 446 S.E.2d at 430 (quotation marks omitted). But that distinction “has been the source of a good deal of confusion,” and “the commentators and Model Penal Code have rejected the traditional dichotomy in favor of the hierarchical approach.” *Id.*

### **A. Specific Intent vs. General Intent**

“At common law, a crime requiring ‘specific intent’ required a higher level of *mens rea* than those requiring ‘general intent.’” *Jefferies*, 316 S.C. at 19 n.9, 446 S.E.2d at 431 n.9. South Carolina courts most often discuss specific intent in the context of attempt crimes, when “specific intent means the defendant intended to complete the acts comprising the underlying offense.” *State v. Reid*, 393 S.C. 325, 329, 713 S.E.2d 274, 276 (2011) (addressing attempted criminal sexual conduct). For example, attempted murder requires the specific intent to kill the victim, *State v. King*, 422 S.C. 47, 64, 810 S.E.2d 18, 27 (2017), and attempted armed robbery requires the specific intent to rob the establishment, *State v. Nesbitt*, 346 S.C. 226, 231, 550 S.E.2d 864, 866–67 (Ct. App. 2001). This Court has described specific intent as the “highest possible mental state,” *King*, 422 S.C. at 56, 810 S.E.2d at 22, and explained that it “loosely corresponds with the more modern concept of ‘purpose,’” *Jefferies*, 316 S.C. at 19 n.9, 446 S.E.2d at 431 n.9.

“Sometimes specific intent is used to refer to offenses including a *mens rea* element of purpose or knowledge, with ‘general intent’ reserved for offenses requiring a less culpable state of mind, such as recklessness or negligence.” McAninch, Fairey, and Coggiola, *THE CRIMINAL LAW OF SOUTH CAROLINA* 2 (6th ed. 2013) (citing Joshua Dressler, *CRIMINAL LAW* 112 (West 1994)). “Other times,” however, “general intent is used in a more generic sense to refer to whatever mental state is required by a given offense, ranging from purpose to negligence.” *Id.* “General intent,” then, is “the term used to define the requisite *mens rea* for a crime that has no stated *mens rea*.” 21 Am. Jur. 2d Criminal Law § 113. No South Carolina case holds a “general intent” crime is necessarily one that can be committed recklessly or negligently.

## **B. The Hierarchical Approach**

“Given the shortcomings of the traditional specific intent/general intent approach to *mens rea*, a movement developed toward a system of classification capable of greater precision.” McAninch, *supra*, at 2. South Carolina adopted this approach in *Jefferies*: “The required *mens rea* for a particular crime can be classified into a hierarchy of culpable states of mind in descending order of culpability, as purpose, knowledge, recklessness, and negligence.” *Jefferies*, 316 S.C. at 18, 446 S.E.2d at 430; *accord Ferguson*, 302 S.C. at 271, 395 S.E.2d at 183 (“[T]he mental

state required to be proven by the State for a particular crime might be purpose (intent), knowledge, recklessness, or criminal negligence.”).

“‘Purpose’ is the highest level of *mens rea* known in criminal law.” *Jefferies*, 316 S.C. at 19, 446 S.E.2d at 431. A person acts purposefully “if he consciously desires” the particular result he caused, “whatever the likelihood of that result happening from his conduct.” *Id.* at 19 n.7, 446 S.E.2d at 430 n.7 (quotation marks omitted). A person acts knowingly if he is aware that the result he caused was “practically certain to follow from his conduct, whatever his desire may be as to that result.” *Id.* at n.8, 446 S.E.2d at 430 n.8 (quotation marks omitted). A person acts with criminal recklessness when he is aware of his conduct but consciously disregards a risk that his conduct is creating. *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 571, 647 S.E.2d 144, 166 (2007). And a person “acts with criminal negligence when he inadvertently creates a substantial and unjustifiable risk of which he ought to be aware.” *See State v. Sterling*, 396 S.C. 599, 616 n.10, 723 S.E.2d 176, 186 n.10 (2012).

In *Borden v. United States*, 141 S.Ct. 1817, 1823 (2021), the United States Supreme Court explained that “[p]urpose and knowledge are the most culpable levels in the criminal law’s mental-state ‘hierarchy.’” The Court characterized the difference between purpose and knowledge as “‘limited,’” noting it “‘has not been considered important’ for many crimes.” *Id.* (quoting *Bailey*, 444 U.S. at 404). It

distinguished purpose and knowledge from recklessness and negligence, describing the latter two as “less culpable mental states” that “involve insufficient concern with a risk of injury.” *Id.* at 1824. The Court also noted that some states recognize a “depraved heart” or “extreme recklessness” mental state, which falls somewhere between recklessness and knowledge.<sup>1</sup> *Id.* at 1825 n.4. South Carolina is such a state. *See, e.g., State v. Watson*, 349 S.C. 372, 376 n.5, 563 S.E.2d 336, 338 n.5 (2002) (noting murder requires malice, and “extreme recklessness can lead to an inference of malice”).

### **C. *Mens Rea* in Statutory Offenses**

When creating a statutory offense, the General Assembly may determine what level of criminal intent is required, or it may decide an act or omission is a crime regardless of intent, thus creating a “strict liability” offense. *Ferguson*, 302 S.C. at 271–72, 395 S.E.2d at 183–84. That the legislature did not include a mental state in a crime or a particular element of a crime does not mean it intended that crime or element to be one of strict liability. *McAninch, supra*, at 4 (citing *Jefferies*, 316 S.C. 13, 446 S.E.2d 427; *Ferguson*, 302 S.C. 269, 395 S.E.2d 182). In such cases, this Court “look[s] to common law and the development of the statute to determine

---

<sup>1</sup> In this brief, the Government refers collectively to “depraved heart” or “extreme recklessness,” purpose, and knowledge as mental states requiring intentional conduct.

whether the legislature intended the crime to require a *mens rea*.” *Jefferies*, 316 S.C. at 18, 446 S.E.2d at 430. In determining legislative intent, the Court may look to “the historical evolution of the statute at issue.” *Doe v. State*, 421 S.C. 490, 499 n.6, 808 S.E.2d 807, 811 n.6 (2017) (citing 73 Am. Jur. 2d *Statutes* § 97, at 336 (2012)).

“[A]ll rules of statutory construction are subservient to the one that legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used, and that language must be construed in light of the intended purpose of the statute.” *State v. Henkel*, 413 S.C. 9, 14, 774 S.E.2d 458, 461 (2015) (quotation marks and alteration omitted). So “[w]hether intent is a necessary element of the statutory crime must be determined from the language of the statute construed in light of its purpose and design.” *State v. Bryant*, 316 S.C. 216, 219, 447 S.E.2d 852, 854 (1994). And although the Court “should not weaken the legislators’ decision to criminalize [certain acts] by imposing a high standard of intent,” *Sterling*, 396 S.C. at 616, 723 S.E.2d at 185, penal statutes “must be construed strictly against the State and in favor of the defendant,” *State v. Blackmon*, 304 S.C. 270, 273, 403 S.E.2d 660, 662 (1991).

This Court has repeatedly analyzed statutes that omit a *mens rea* requirement and determined they criminalize only intentional conduct. For example, in *State v. Brown*, the Court analyzed a statute that made it “unlawful for any person anonymously or otherwise” to use profane language or threaten an unlawful act in a telephonic communication. 274 S.C. 506, 266 S.E.2d 64 (1989) (citing S.C. Code

Ann. § 16–17–430 (1976)). The Court “construe[d] the quoted portion of the statute as proscribing only calls initiated by one *with the intent and sole purpose* of conveying an unsolicited obscene, imminently threatening and/or harassing message to an unwilling recipient.” *Id.* at 508, 266 S.E.2d at 65 (emphasis added).

In *Jefferies*, the Court addressed the kidnapping statute, which makes it a crime to “unlawfully seize, confine, inveigle, decoy, kidnap, abduct or carry away” a person without authority of law. 316 S.C. at 19 n.4, 446 S.E.2d at 430 n.4 (quoting S.C. Code Ann. § 16–3–910 (1985)). Because the statute “does not expressly state whether a *mens rea* is required,” the Court traced the history of the statute and ultimately found no evidence the General Assembly intended to make kidnapping a strict liability crime. *Id.* at 19, 446 S.E.2d at 430. It therefore concluded the *mens rea* of “knowledge” was required. *Id.* at 19, 446 S.E.2d at 430–31.

And in *Sterling*, the Court considered a securities fraud statute that made it “unlawful for a person, in connection with the offer, sale, or purchase of a security” to defraud another. 396 S.C. at 614, 723 S.E.2d at 184 (quoting S.C. Code Ann. § 35–1–501(3) (Supp. 2010)). The Court observed that when the General Assembly does not state a *mens rea*, courts should be reluctant to impose the highest form, lest they run the risk of weakening its decision to criminalize disfavored conduct. *Id.* at 616, 723 S.E.2d at 185. But the Court did not condone imposing the lowest form of *mens rea*, either. Instead, the Court analyzed the securities fraud statute and its

penalty provision, and it concluded the proper *mens rea* was “knowing misconduct or severe recklessness.” *Sterling*, 396 S.C. at 615, 723 S.E.2d at 185 (citing *State v. Morris*, 376 S.C. 189, 202 n.5, 656 S.E.2d 359, 366 n.5 (2008)).

Clemons points to this Court’s decision in *Ferguson*, Opening Br. at 14–15, 21, which held a drug distribution statute that does not enumerate a *mens rea* requires the State to “show that a given defendant was at least criminally negligent when he/she manufactured, distributed, or dispensed a controlled substance[.]” 302 S.C. at 273, 395 S.E.2d at 184. But *Ferguson* did not hold that *any* statute omitting an express mental state can be violated by negligent conduct. It stated only that ““under statutes which do not disclose a contrary legislative purpose, to constitute a crime, the act must be accompanied by a criminal intent, or by such negligence or indifference to duty or to consequences as is regarded by the law as equivalent to a criminal intent.”” 302 S.C. at 272, 395 S.E.2d at 183 (quoting *State v. Am. Ag. Chem. Co.*, 118 S.C. 333, 337, 110 S.E. 800 (1922)). Consistent with *Jefferies* and *Sterling*, *Ferguson* emphasized the importance of evaluating the entire statutory scheme to determine what mental state requirement the General Assembly meant to impose. *Id.* at 272–73, 395 S.E.2d at 184 (“A reading of the entire statutory scheme convinces us that the legislature intended to place a mental state requirement in the offense[.]”). As explained below, the Assault and Battery and Criminal Domestic

Violence statutory schemes adopted by the General Assembly reflect an intent to criminalize only intentional conduct.<sup>2</sup>

## **II. Second-Degree Assault and Battery Can Only Be Committed By Intentional Conduct.**

The text and legislative history of the Assault and Battery statute establish that the Assault and Battery offenses cannot be committed recklessly or negligently. In

---

<sup>2</sup> In 2016, the Solicitor General of the United States filed an appendix to a brief before the United States Supreme Court that included AB2d and CDV in a 50-state survey of offenses that could be committed by recklessness or less. *See Voisine v. United States*, Br. for the United States, No. 14-10154, 2016 WL 344487, at \*10aa, \*15aa (U.S. Supreme Court Jan. 19, 2016).

Appendix B listed Second- and Third-Degree Assault and Battery—as codified at §§ 16–3–600(D)(1) and (E)(1)—as “state misdemeanor assault and battery statutes in effect” in 1996. *Id.* at \*1aa, \*10aa. But AB2d and AB3d did not exist until 2010. *See* 2010 S.C. Acts 273.

Appendix C listed CDV as a “state misdemeanor domestic violence statute[] requiring recklessness or less” in effect in 1996. *Voisine*, Br. for the United States, 2016 WL 344487, at \*14–15aa. It relied on Second- and Third-Degree CDV—as codified at §§ 16–25–20(C) and (D)—and their “interplay between assault and battery.” *Id.* But South Carolina did not adopt degrees of domestic violence until 2015. *See* 2015 S.C. Acts 58. The version of the CDV statute the Solicitor General analyzed was not, in fact, in effect in 1996.

Most importantly, the Solicitor General included AB2d and CDV in the list of “reckless” offenses based only on two authorities—*United States v. McFalls*, 592 F.3d 707 (6th Cir. 2010), and *State v. Sussewell*, 149 S.C. 128, 146 S.E. 697 (1929)—that do not involve AB2d or CDV; they interpret abolished common-law offenses. And his concession was based on “decisions holding that the mental state for *assault* may include reckless conduct,” *Voisine*, Br. for the United States, 2016 WL 344487, at \*15aa (emphasis added), which Clemons agrees was wrong, *see* Opening Br. at 8 (“At common law, assault was a specific intent crime[.]”). For these reasons, and those explained below, the Solicitor General’s inclusion of AB2d and CDV on the list of “reckless” offenses was error.

2008, the South Carolina General Assembly created a Sentencing Reform Commission tasked with addressing “[r]ising recidivism rates, increasing prison populations, limited sentencing alternatives and re-entry programs, and mounting correctional costs.” South Carolina Sentencing Reform Commission, *Report to the General Assembly* 1 (Feb. 1, 2010).<sup>3</sup> The Commission concluded “[p]rison space should be reserved for violent criminals and those with violent tendencies,” and it made detailed recommendations to increase public safety by, in relevant part, “ensuring that there is prison space for high-risk, violent offenders” and “that those offenders serve longer terms in prison.” *Id.* at 2.

One such recommendation was that the General Assembly

Enact legislation to restructure by statute the degrees of assault and battery, including the existing common law and statutory offenses, so that the common law offense of “Assault and Battery of a High and Aggravated Nature” is abolished, and the statutory offense of “Assault and Battery with Intent to Kill” (Section 16–3–620), is repealed. In the legislation, establish graduated offenses of “Assault and Battery,” to include “Attempted Murder,” “Aggravated Assault and Battery,” and “Assault and Battery,” with commensurate penalties.

*Id.* at 21–22.

The General Assembly heeded the call. In 2010, it passed the Omnibus Crime Reduction and Sentencing Reform Act (the Act), which substantially overhauled

---

<sup>3</sup><http://www.scstatehouse.gov/Archives/CitizensInterestPage/SentencingReformCommission/CombinedFinalReport020110SigPage.pdf> (accessed Feb. 20, 2023).

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